No. 452324

(consolidated with No. 452626)

COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

FRANK SHANNON BELLUE, Appellant

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF PIERCE COUNTY  
JUDGE THOMAS LARKIN

---

CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410  
PO Box 829  
Graham, WA  
509.939.3038

##

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The State Violated Mr. Bellue's Constitutional Rights When Officers Made A Warrantless Entry And Search Of His Motel Room, Seized Evidence and Unlawfully Detained Him.
- B. The Court Erred When It Imposed An Exceptional Sentence Based On The Major Economic Offense Aggravating Circumstance Where The Predicate Offenses Were Based On Accomplice Liability.
- C. The Evidence Was Insufficient To Sustain A Conviction For Leading Organized Crime.
- D. The Evidence Was Insufficient To Sustain Convictions For Identity Theft, Forgery, Unlawful Possession Of Payment Instruments, Unlawful Possession of Instruments of Financial Fraud, and Possession of Stolen Property.
- E. The Trial Court Erred When It Did Not Enter Written Findings and Conclusions When It Imposed The Exceptional Sentence.
- F. Mr. Bellue Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel.

## Issues Related To Assignments of Error

1. Where police officers arrest suspects outside of a motel, is a warrantless entry into and search of the motel room of a guest a violation of Article 1 § 7 of the Washington State Constitution?
2. Was Mr. Bellue unlawfully detained where police officers handcuffed him, removed him from his hotel room, and transported him to the police station for an interview?
3. Did the court err when it instructed the jury that it could convict the defendant based on accomplice liability, but then impose an exceptional sentence based on major economic offense ?
4. Was the evidence sufficient to sustain a conviction for leading organized crime?
5. Was the evidence sufficient to sustain convictions for identity theft, possession of stolen property, unlawful possession of payment instruments, unlawful possession of instruments of financial fraud?
6. Did the trial court err when it failed to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law required for imposition of an exceptional sentence?

7. Did Mr. Bellue receive ineffective assistance of counsel where counsel did make any motions to suppress evidence that was illegally obtained?

## II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

### 1. Charging and Consolidation of Causes

On June 12, 2013, Frank Shannon Bellue was charged by amended information, under Pierce County cause number 12-1-02120-3, with 5 counts of second degree identity theft, 1 count of forgery, 1 count of unlawful possession of instruments of financial fraud, 1 count of unlawful possession of payment instruments, 1 count of second degree possession of stolen property, 1 count of leading organized crime, and 1 count of tampering with a witness. With the exception of the tampering charge, each charge included aggravating circumstances of a major economic offense and multiple current offenses that would result in some offense going unpunished. The tampering count included the multiple current offenses aggravator. (CP 54-61).

On June 25, 2013, under Pierce County cause number 12-1-04771-7, he was charged by amended information with 18 counts of second degree identity theft, 1 count of forgery, 2 counts of unlawful possession of payment instruments, and 1 count of leading organized crime. Each count included the aggravating circumstances of a major economic offense



and multiple current offenses that would result in some offenses going unpunished. (CP 542-557).

Over defense objection, the court granted the State's motion to consolidate the causes. (RP 17-18; CP 40-43).<sup>1</sup>

## 2. Trial Evidence

On June 5, 2012, Lakewood police impounded a 1990 green Audi driven by Yolanda Carlson. (Vol. 4RP 327). That same day, Konstance Kendrick saw Ms. Carlson and Mr. Bellue and offered them use of a room at the Morgan Motel, for which she paid. (Vol. 5RP 484-85). Spencer Bellue<sup>2</sup> and Rochelle Moore joined them and all four adults stayed at the motel on June 5 and June 6. (Vol. 5RP 395;447).

On June 6, Spencer and Moore left the Morgan Motel and walked to a nearby Rite Aid to purchase cigarettes. (Vol. 5 RP 395;447). Moore became concerned the store clerk knew she was using a false ID and an altered check to pay for her items. (Vol. 5 RP 400). She did not hand over the check but simply left the store with Spencer. (Vol. 5 RP 398-400). The clerk called the police. (Vol. 2 RP 19).

---

<sup>1</sup> For purposes of this brief, the hearing date of 3/18/13 will be referenced as RP page no.; each hearing date after that will be referenced as Vol. no. RP

<sup>2</sup> Frank Spencer Bellue is the son of the defendant Frank Shannon Bellue. For purposes of this brief he will be referred to as "Spencer" to avoid any confusion.

Spencer and Moore walked back to the motel and as she smoked a cigarette, police officers drove into the parking lot. (Vol. 2RP 20; Vol. 5RP 400). They both started to run but Officer Lopez-Sanchez caught Ms. Moore. (Vol. 2RP 21). He handcuffed her and placed her in his patrol car. (Vol. 2RP 42). Spencer went into the motel room. (Vol. 2RP 21). Within about twenty seconds Spencer walked out and Officer Cockcroft arrested, handcuffed, searched, and questioned Spencer about the Rite-Aid incident. (Vol. 2RP 24,41, 82-84)

Steve Sweney and Tara Zimmer and their infant child had stopped by to pick up Mr. Bellue and Ms. Carlson, and were preparing to leave when the police arrived. (Vol. 5RP 448, 485). Police excused the couple and their child from the scene. (Vol. 2RP 66). Mr. Bellue was still inside the motel room with Ms. Carlson. (Vol. 2RP 26;68-69). He sat on the edge of the bed with his suitcase in front of him; Ms. Carlson stood next to him wearing her backpack. (Vol. 2RP 68-70).

Ms. Carlson testified that officers entered the room and she was taken out. (Vol. 5RP 447-48). Officer Boyd detained her and searched her backpack. (Vol. 2RP 37). It contained various personal effects as well as the following items, which were later entered as evidence:

- United States Uniform Services identification card for Brandy Brandenburg;

- Driver's license and Military ID of Karlina Yoshitaro Robert;
- Corner of a personal check with the names Lauren Carlson and Silvestri Cervantes;
- A temporary paper Driver's license of Lauren Carlson;
- 2 Personal checks with the names of Lorena Sutter and Lindsey Jensen;
- Personal check with the names Brandy Brandenburg and Lindsey Jensen
- Military ID of Carlana Robert
- A personal check in the name of Lindsey Jensen
- A wage statement for Teresa Congemi
- Washington state ID card for Lorena Sutter

(Vol. 2RP 27-34).

Other officers entered the hotel room. (Vol. 2RP 26, 38-39,61, 91, Vol. 5RP447-48;492). Officer Lopez-Sanchez initially testified that he did not enter the motel room, but from the outside doorway he was able to not only see some ripped up checks laying in a garbage can, on the floor, and on a nightstand, but he could actually read the names on the torn pieces. (Vol. 2RP 26-27;41-42). In later testimony he admitted that he actually entered the motel room while Mr. Bellue was still seated on the

bed. (Vol. 2RP 38-39). He determined officers needed a search warrant to gather the items he saw around the room. (Vol. 2RP 27).

Officer Wurges testified he handcuffed Mr. Bellue and Mr. Bellue was not free to leave. (Vol. 2RP 71). He did not read his Miranda rights to him. (Vol. 2RP 54). Although he stated Mr. Bellue was not formally under arrest at the time, he handcuffed and transported him to the police station, where he conducted a search. (Vol. 2RP 56). The officer found debit/ credit cards in his wallet. One of the cards was in the name “Angela Patterson”. Mr. Bellue explained Ms. Patterson was his girlfriend. (Vol. 2RP 57;73).

Officer Hensley was stationed outside the motel room to make sure no one went into the room while awaiting a warrant. (Vol. 3RP 187). Detective Roland Hayes of the Tacoma Police Department was assigned the task of preparing the search warrant for the motel room. (Vol. 3RP 177). Once the warrant was granted, detectives including Detective Joseph Canion again entered the room. (Vol. 3RP 182; Vol. 4RP 231; 238).

Detective Canion’s task was to catalog the items taken from the motel room. (Vol. 3RP 185). He testified that when he first entered the room, the ripped up checks seen earlier by Officer Lopez-Sanchez were already contained in a police evidence bag and placed next to the waste

paper basket, on top of a chair. (Vol. 3RP 217). The detective did not know how the checks, which prior to the search warrant had been seen on the floor, came to be found inside a police evidence bag when he entered the room for the first time with the warrant. (Vol. 3RP 217).

In a connecting room, used by Spencer and Moore, officers lifted a mattress and found: two checkbooks for Silvestre Cervantes, a brown wallet containing the social security card, passport, a BJs bingo card and student ID for Kaitlin Chaput, the military ID for Stephanie Frazier, a Washington driver's license for Lauren Carlson, and some needles. (Vol. 3RP 210-211; Vol. 4RP 244; Vol. 5RP 487). The second wallet, black, contained A Tribal One Stop card for Frank Bellue<sup>3</sup>, a bank of America debit visa card in the name of Stephanie Frazier, a social security card and driver's license for Nickolas Fraizer, a BJ Bingo card with Spencer's picture on it, and receipts from Macy's, Burger King, Fred Meyer and Albertson's and a Qwest card in the name of Rochelle Moore. (Vol. 4RP 296-98).

In a nightstand in the first room, they found two glass pipes, and a NetSpend MasterCard in the name of Frank Bellue. (Vol. 3RP 212).

---

<sup>3</sup> Officers could not determine if the card belonged to the defendant Frank Shannon Bellue or his son, Frank Spencer Bellue.

They seized a printer, a black ink cartridge and some receipts. (Vol. 3RP 216;220).

Defense counsel did not make a motion for a suppression hearing regarding any of the items seized at the motel.

### 3. Telephone Calls

Prior to trial, Detective Williams began to monitor Mr. Bellue's phone calls from the jail. (Vol. 4RP 325-26; Vol. 5RP 379). Detective Williams believed the Audi impounded on June 5 might contain evidence for the investigation. (Vol. 4 RP 327). He obtained and executed a search warrant on July 12, 2012. (Vol. 4RP 329). The registered owner of the car was Steve Sweney, the individual who had been released at the scene. (Vol. 5RP 388).

In a black bag in the trunk of Ms. Carlson's car, the following pertinent items were seized:

- Washington State driver's license for Amanda Sheppler
- Washington State driver's license for Taylor Pritchard
- Washington State intermediate license for Kirsten O'Neil
- Oregon State driver's license for Meagan Casey
- Washington State driver's license for Steven Daffer
- Social Security cards for AJ John Robert, John Robert, John S, Robert, Joana John Robert, Joma Siam Robert, Athelia L. Robert

- Social security card for Teresa Congemi
- Two checks with the names Teresa Congemi and Samuel and Kendra Barnes
- USA Insurance cards for Nickolas and Stephanie Fraizer
- Social Security card for Kendra Barnes
- Social Security card for Gavin Barnes
- US Bank printed checks with the names John W and Lisa A. Johnson
- Timberland Bank check in the name of Kaitlin Chaput
- Timberland Bank Check in the name of Susan Lewis
- A check with the names of Jessica Dill, Stephanie Frazier and Craig Wollmershauser
- A printed check with the name of Joanne Strand
- A social security number for Brandy Brandenburg
- Checkbook with unendorsed checks n the name of Susan Lewis
- Nurse's aide certification for Stephanie Fraizer
- Two laptop computers, check making software, blank checks and printer cartridges.

(Vol. 4RP 330-343; Vol. 5RP 352-367).

#### 4. Surveillance Videos

At trial, the State showed still photos and surveillance videos from various Target stores. (Vol. 4RP 3162). In a video dated May 24, 2012, Moore and Spencer were seen attempting to pay for items with a check. (Vol. 4RP 313-14). The check was not accepted and Spencer paid with cash. *Id.* The second video dated May 29, 2012, showed Spencer and Moore returning a printer cartridge. Moore purchased a netbook computer with a prepaid Visa card. (Vol. 4RP 314-15).

The third video dated June 4, 2012, showed Ms. Carlson, Ms. Kendrick and Mr. Bellue walking into a Target store. (Vol. 4RP 316). Mr. Bellue left the store and the women continued shopping. Ms. Carlson made a purchase, but Ms. Kendrick's check was denied. (Vol. 4RP 318). Both women left the store. Ms. Kendrick returned to the store and tried to make another purchase with a check, which was also denied. (Vol. 4RP 320).

On June 4, 2012, in a Graham Target store, the video showed Ms. Carlson getting out of the passenger side of the Audi. She entered the store and attempted to make a purchase, but the cashier denied the transaction. (Vol. 4RP 321). The last surveillance video was from a Lakewood Target. Ms. Carlson again attempted to make a purchase and the transaction was denied. (Vol. 4RP 321).



The State also presented a store manager from CarQuest, as a witness. (Vol. 5RP 427). He testified that on May 24, 2012, Ms. Carlson, Mr. Bellue and another man men entered the store. (Vol. 5RP 428). The store video showed Ms. Carlson at the register buying the car parts. She later admitted she used a stolen check and Teresa Congemi's ID to purchase the parts for her car. (Vol. 5RP 431-433).

5. Ms. Carlson

Ms. Carlson was charged with 21 counts of identity theft, second degree, two counts of forgery, six counts of unlawful possession of a personal identification device, and one count of unlawful possession of payment instruments, all with aggravating circumstance of multiple victims. (Vol. 5RP 467-68). She pleaded guilty to those counts. As part of an agreement for a recommendation on her prison sentence, Ms. Carlson testified in Mr. Bellue's trial. (Vol. 5 RP 468). The agreement for a sentence recommendation was "dependent on how she testified." *Id.*

Ms. Carlson had convictions for identity theft beginning in 2007. In 2009 she had a conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance. And in 2012 she was charged with 11 counts of forgery, unlawful possession of a controlled substance, identity theft in the second degree and criminal impersonation. Those charges were pending at the time of this trial. (Vol. 5RP 466).

She testified she drove the Audi the day it was impounded. (Vol. 5RP 451;481). The black bag retrieved from the car trunk belonged to her and contained stolen IDs. (Vol. 5RP 481). She purchased stolen IDs and checkbooks regularly, but Mr. Bellue was not involved in it with her and never gave her any stolen checks. (Vol. 5RP 452-54). She saw Mr. Bellue alter a check once before, but admitted that she had added the name “Lindsey Jensen” to the Lorena Sutter checks that were found in her backback. (Vol. 5RP 454;458;460).

6. Ms. Moore

Rochelle Moore testified that during the six weeks prior to her arrest she and Spencer stayed in various motels off and on with Mr. Bellue and Ms. Carlson. (Vol. 5RP 394-95;409). At that time, she was using drugs and would pass fraudulent checks to obtain cash or gift cards to purchase drugs for her and Spencer. (Vol. 5RP 398-99;405). She said that she had not passed bad checks with Mr. Bellue. (Vol. 5RP 399). She recounted that she in the past she had seen Mr. Bellue and Ms. Carlson use a computer to alter checks. (Vol. 5RP 403) and that Mr. Bellue had given her the check and ID to use at the Rite-Aid store. (Vol. 5RP 398). She stated that she and Spencer “were doing it (altering checks) on our own” to obtain money to buy drugs. (Vol. 5RP 405).

Prior to meeting Spencer, Moore had four previous convictions for theft and trafficking in stolen property. (Vol. 5RP 412). At the time of this trial she was serving a sentence in the Pierce County drug court on the previous charges. (Vol. 5Rp 412).

As a result of the Rite-Aid incident, she was originally charged with second-degree identity theft, forgery, misuse of a personal ID device and misleading a public servant. (Vol. 5 RP 416). She instead pleaded guilty to one count of second-degree identity theft. (Vol. 5RP 412). On direct examination by the prosecutor, she was asked if testifying against Mr. Bellue was part of her plea agreement. She answered “no.” (Vol. 5RP 413). However, in an earlier hearing, the prosecutor informed the court that Moore was in drug court and “I believe that as part of that, that she will have to [testify] if she wants to stay in drug court.” (RP 11).

#### 7. Witness Testimony Regarding Stolen Checks and ID

The State presented the following individuals who testified their checkbooks and or identification had been stolen within the previous several months, they did not know Mr. Bellue, and they did not give him permission to possess their identification or financial documents: Teresa Congemi, Jessica Dill, Lisa Johnson, Amber Craig, Megan Casey, Amanda Shepler, Brian Jensen, Kirsten O’Neil, (Vol. 2 RP 45; 102; Vol. 3RP 151,159,165,170; Vol. 5RP 390, 422).

## 8. Jury Instructions and Closing Arguments

With the exception of the charges of leading organized crime and witness tampering, the jury was instructed it could convict on the basis of accomplice liability. (CP 78-82;88;93;95;98;101;573-576;578-590;596;603-604). Each count, with the exception of witness tampering, also contained an instruction for the aggravating circumstance of whether the crime was a major economic offense or series of offenses<sup>4</sup>. (CP 93; 99; 106;112; 593;605).

During deliberations, the jury posed the question:

“Should we consider the same evidence/people in case 02120-3 count 5 and 04771-7 count 22 on counts “Leading organized crime” and why the exact same charge in both cases? Change verdict form X (04771-7 to “leading organized crime”?”

The court responded,  
“They are the same charges in two different cause numbers. Count XXII should be “leading organized crime” on verdict for “V”.

(CP 62).

In closing, the prosecutor argued the following:

---

<sup>4</sup> The jury was instructed that to find a crime is a major economic offense, at least one of the following factors must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) the crime involved multiple victims or multiple incidents per victim; or (2) the crime involved a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurred over a lengthy period of time. The above factors are alternatives. This means that if you find from the evidence that anyone of the alternative factors has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to answer “yes” on the special verdict form. To return a verdict of “Yes” the jury need not be unanimous as to which if the juror finds that at least one alternative has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. (CP 86; 594).

“But now getting back to all of the other charges, there’s two ways he can be convicted of this crime, either he is a principal in these crimes, he is the one doing it, or the court instructed you if he’s an accomplice he’s also just as guilty....the getaway driver is just as guilty as the bankrobber...” (Vol. 7RP 559)

and again,

“So I would submit to you that the evidence has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was a principal to all these crimes. But even if you don’t believe that, you still have the accomplice liability instruction...” (Vol. 7RP 569).

Mr. Bellue was found guilty on all counts and aggravating circumstances. (CP 597-611). The court denied a motion for a new trial and arrest of judgment. (Vol. 9RP 623). Mr. Bellue was sentenced to 225 months, which included a 27-month sentence enhancement. (Vol. 10RP 638). The court did not prepare written findings of fact and conclusions of law for the enhanced sentence. The court vacated the second leading organized conviction, as it was duplicative. (CP 881). Mr. Bellue makes this timely appeal. (CP 473-490; 890-908).

### III. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Bellue’s Constitutional Right To Privacy Was Violated Where Police Officers Made A Warrantless Entry Into His Hotel Room, Seized Evidence, And Detained Him.

#### 1. Warrantless Unlawful Entry

Although defense counsel did not challenge Mr. Bellue's seizure nor make a motion to suppress the motel room evidence, a reviewing court will consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3)<sup>5</sup>. If the error is of constitutional magnitude, the defendant must show how the alleged error actually prejudiced him in the context of the trial. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). If the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest. *Id.*

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