COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

FRANK SHANNON BELLUE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Thomas Larkin

No. 12-1-02120-3 & 12-1-04771-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By BRIAN WASANKARI Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF WHETHER EVIDENCE SEIZED FROM HIS MOTEL ROOM AND GATHERED AS A RESULT OF HIS ARREST SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED BY FAILING TO MOVE FOR ITS SUPPRESSION BELOW.

While a party may generally "raise manifest error affecting a constitutional right for the first time on appeal" under RAP 2.5(a)(3), "[a] failure to move to suppress evidence... constitutes a waiver of the right to have it excluded." *State v. Lee*, 162 Wn. App. 852, 857, 259 P.3d 294 (2011) (citing State v. Mierz, 72 Wn. App. 783, 789, 866 P.2d 65, 875 P.2d 1228 (1994) (citing State v. Tarica, 59 Wn. App. 368, 372-73, 798 P.2d 296 (1990), overruled on other grounds by State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 337 899 P,.2d 1251 (1995))). See State v. Baxter, 68 Wn.2d 416, 423, 413 P.2d 638 (1966)

Thus, where a defendant does "not move to suppress the evidence at trial, the defendant "d[oes] not preserve the issue for review and [this Court will] not address it for the first time on appeal." *Lee*, 162 Wn. App. at 857.

The purpose of this rule is to "encourage 'the efficient use of judicial resources'... by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals." *State v.*

Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304-05, 253 P.3d 84 (2011) (quoting State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)).

There is an exception to the rule only when a defendant makes a suppression challenge for the first time on appeal following substantive changes in the law. *See Lee*, 162 Wn. App. at 856. Thus, the above

principles of issue preservation do not apply where the following four conditions are met: (1) a court issues a new controlling constitutional interpretation material to the defendant's case, (2) that interpretation overrules an existing controlling interpretation, (3) the new interpretation applies retroactively to the defendant and (4) the defendant's trial was completed prior to the new interpretation.

State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 305, 253 P.3d 84 (2011).

In *Robinson*, "police conducted warrantless vehicle searches that were arguably illegal under [*Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S. Ct. 1710, 173 L. Ed. 2d 485 (2009)], and *State v. Patton*, 167 Wn.2d 379, 394-95, 219 P.3d 651 (2009)." *Lee*, 162 Wn. App. at 856. "Because the facts of *Robinson* met all four conditions, our Supreme Court held that issue preservation was 'simply not applicable' there," and "remanded the cases on review for suppression hearings." *Id.* (*citing Robinson*, 171 Wn.2d at 307).

Such is not the case here. Here, none of these conditions were satisfied. *See* Brief of Appellant (BOA), p. 1-38. Nor did the defendant

move to suppress the evidence found in the motel room or as a result of his arrest prior to or at trial. *See* RP 1-640; BOA, p. 17. Therefore, he did not preserve these issues for review, and this Court should not address them for the first time on appeal. *See Lee*, 162 Wn. App. at 857.

Rather, the defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

2. ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT THE ISSUES WERE PRESERVED, THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF DEFENDANT'S FOURTH AMENDMENT OR ARTICLE I, SECTION 7 RIGHTS BECAUSE DISCOVERY OF THE EVIDENCE IN QUESTION WAS MADE IN OPEN VIEW AND ITS SUBSEQUENT SEIZURE JUSTIFIED BY A SEARCH WARRANT AND DEFENDANT'S FELONY ARREST IN PUBLIC WAS SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE CAUSE.

Even had Defendant properly preserved the issue of whether evidence should have been suppressed, neither his Fourth Amendment nor Article I, Section 7 rights were violated here.

a. The discovery of the evidence in the motel room was made in open view and its seizure justified by a search warrant.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause."

Article I, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution mandates that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."

Evidence obtained in violation of these provisions is not admissible in court. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 82 S. Ct. 23, 7 L. Ed. 72 (1961); *State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d 169, 180, 233 P.3d 879 (2010).

However, "[a]s a prerequisite to claiming an unconstitutional search, a defendant must demonstrate that he or she had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the item searched." *State v. Hamilton*, 179 Wn. App. 870, 882, 320 P.3d 142 (2014).

"Generally, a motel guest has the same expectation of privacy during his tenancy as the owner or renter of a private residence." State v. Davis, 86 Wn. App. 414, 937 P.2d 1110 (1997) (citing Stoner v. California, 376 U.S. 483, 486, 84 S.Ct. 889, 891, 11 L. Ed. 2d 856 (1964); State v. York, 11 Wn. App. 137, 141, 521 P.2d 950 (1974)) (emphasis added); State v. Ramirez, 49 Wn. App. 814, 817, 746 P.2d 344 (1987).

However, a motel room guest's expectation of privacy in the motel room "does not survive the expiration of the tenancy, unless the motel has accepted late payment and/or tolerated overtime stays in the past." *Davis*, 86 Wn. App. at 419. After the expiration of a guest's tenancy, "the

innkeeper acquires the right to control the premises... and can consent to a warrantless search by law enforcement." *Id*.

"[A] warrantless search is per se unreasonable, unless it falls within one of the carefully drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement." *State v. Patton*, 167 Wn.2d 379, 386, 219 P.3d 651 (2009). Similarly, "[t]he 'authority of law' requirement of article I, section 7 is satisfied by a valid warrant, subject to a few jealously guarded exceptions." *State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d 169, 176-77, 233 P.3d 879 (2010).

For example, "[w]hen a law enforcement officer observes something in open view from a lawful vantage point, the observation is not a 'search' triggering the protections of article I, section 7." *State v. Swetz*, 160 Wn. App. 122, 134, 247 P.3d 802 (2011) (*citing State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 10, 726 P.2d 445 (1986) and *State v. Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d 898, 901, 632 P.2d 44 (1981)). *Accord State v. Cardenas*, 146 Wn.2d 400, 308, 4 P.3d 127 (2002). Similarly, "[e]vidence discovered in 'open view' is not the product of a "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Louthan*, 158 Wn. App. 732, 746, 242 P.3d 954 (2010) (*citing State v. Perez*, 41 Wn. App. 481, 483, 704 P.2d 625 (1985) (*citing State v. Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d 898, 901-02, 632 P.2d 44 (1981))).

Indeed,

[u]nder the "open view" doctrine, there is no search because a government agent's "observation takes place from a non-intrusive vantage point. The governmental agent is either on the outside looking outside or on the outside looking inside to that which is knowingly exposed to the public." Seagull, 95 Wash.2d at 902, 632 P.2d 44 (quoting State v. Kaaheena, 59 Haw. 23, 28-29, 575 P.2d 462 (1978)). Accordingly, the object under observation is not subject to any reasonable expectation of privacy and the observation is not within the scope of the constitution. State v. Kennedy, 107 Wash.2d 1, 10, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

State v. Louthan, 158 Wn. App. 732, 746, 242 P.3d 954 (2010).

In the present case, the defendant was not a registered guest of the motel and did not seem to have any possessory interest in the motel room at the time of the search.

Contrary to the defendant's present assertion that he "was legitimately on the premises as an overnight guest," BOA, p. 18, the evidence showed that the room had been rented by Konstance Kendrick, not the defendant. RP 95-96, 222. The room itself was rented for only two days and Kendrick was scheduled to check out of that room on June 6, 2012, RP 95-96, 485, the day police served a search warrant upon it.

According to Yolanda Carlson, who was present with Kendrick when she rented the room, Kendrick left the room at or prior to the defendant's arrival and did not return. RP 484-85. It was then Carlson, who had not rented the room and was apparently not a registered guest, who invited the defendant to stay in the room. RP 486.

Moreover, when police responded to the motel in the late morning of June 6, the date Kendrick's tenancy expired, the motel manager told Officer Henley that the defendant and his group were no longer welcome on the property. RP 81, 97-98. Hensley communicated this to the defendant, stating that he or his group return, they would be arrested for trespassing. RP 97-98.

While "a motel guest has the same expectation of privacy during his tenancy as the owner or renter of a private residence." Davis, 86 Wn. App. 414, given that the defendant did not rent the room, was apparently not a registered guest, and was only invited to stay in the room by a non-registered guest, he may never have been a legitimate guest of the Morgan Motel. If not, he never had any expectation of privacy in that room, and his 4th amendment and Article I, section 7 rights could not have been violated by a search of that room.

Assuming *arguendo* that he was a guest of the motel and had an expectation of privacy in the room, his tenancy expired before the search at issue occurred. If it hadn't ended by virtue of the original leasehold agreement requiring Kendrick to vacate the room on the day the police arrived, RP 95-96, 485, it ended when the motel manager informed Defendant, via police, that he was no longer welcome on the property, and that he would be arrested for trespassing if he returned. RP 81, 97-98.

Because service of the search warrant occurred after this, *see* RP 95-99, the defendant could not have had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the room when it was searched. *See Davis*, 86 Wn. App. at 419. Therefore, his 4th amendment and Article I, section 7 rights could not have been violated by a search of that room.

However, assuming that Defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in that room, neither of these rights were violated because the discovery of the evidence in question was made in open view, and its subsequent seizure justified by a search warrant.

Officer Lopez Sanchez testified that he responded to the area to investigate a report of two suspects trying to "use a check that was determined to be stolen" at the Rite Aid store next to the Morgan Motel. RP 19-20. He then saw two people who matched the suspect descriptions provided by Rite Aid personnel standing outside of the motel room in which Defendant was located. RP 19-21. When he pulled up and told them to stop, both ran, and one ran into the room in which Defendant was sitting. RP 19-21. Officer Cockcroft, who came to assist, then approached the room, when the door opened, and the male suspect walked out. RP 24-26, 29-30, 82-83, 89. Cockcroft arrested him and searched him incident to that arrest. RP 24-25, 40, 82-84.

Given that this took place next to the open motel room door, and that the motel itself had been the scene of many crimes, including

homicides, Officer Lopez Sanchez was concerned for the officer's safety, and stood next to that door while the male was being arrested. *See* RP 23-24, 43, 45.

It was from this position, outside the motel room, that Lopez Sanchez observed "things out in the open [in the motel room] that [were] significant to the case [police] w[ere] investigating," including "lots" of "ripped up checks," drug paraphernalia, and syringes. RP 24-25, 40.

Officer Lopez Sanchez saw a couple different names on these torn-up checks. RP 26.

Because Officer Lopez Sanchez made this observation "in open view from a lawful vantage point, the observation is not a 'search' triggering the protections of article I, section 7." *Swetz*, 160 Wn. App. at 134, or the Fourth Amendment. *Louthan*, 158 Wn. App. at 746. Therefore, neither provision could have been violated by the observations of Lopez Sanchez.

Although Defendant argues that the officer's testimony that he observed the names on the ripped up checks from outside the room "strains credulity," BOA, p. 20, his conclusion of the officer's credibility is irrelevant. There is nothing in the record to suggest that the officer was lying. Nor was there anything to suggest that he could not see the names on the checks. Lopez Sanchez was standing just outside the motel room door at the time, and at least some of the checks were "in a garbage can

that was right inside the room." RP 40, 43. Thus, the circumstances described by the officer tend to corroborate his statement.

Moreover, his observation provided probable cause for issuance of the subsequent search warrant.

Probable cause exists where the "facts and circumstances [are] sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the crime may be found at the place to be searched." *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999).

Here, Lopez Sanchez observed a man who had just tried to use a stolen check run into the defendant's motel room. He saw "lots" of "ripped up checks" in different people's names, drug paraphernalia, and syringes sitting in that room along with the defendant. RP 24-26, 40. One could reasonably infer from the facts that (1) the man who ran into the room had just tried to use a stolen check and (2) the "lots" of checks in different people's names inside that room, that this man and "the defendant [were] probably involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the crime may be found [in the motel room]." *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140. Moreover, one could reasonably infer from the presence of the drug paraphernalia that they were using stolen or fraudulent checks to gain money for illicit drug purchases and use. *See* RP 405-06, 471.

Thus, the observations of Lopez Sanchez provided probable cause for the search warrant for the room, which was then obtained by Detective Hayes. RP 177-81, 186.

Although officers prevented others from entering the room after Carlson and the defendant left it, see, e.g., RP 98-99, 186-87, where probable cause exists, officers may lawfully seize and secure premises in order to preserve the status quo while others, in good faith, are in the process of obtaining a search warrant. State v. Solberg, 66 Wn. App. 66, 77-78, 831 P.2d 754 (1992), rev'd on other grounds, 122 Wn.2d 688, 861 P.2d 460 (1993) (citing Segura v. U.S., 468 U.S. 796, 104 S. Ct. 3380, 82 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1984) and State v. Ng, 104 Wn.2d 763, 713 P.3d 63 (1985)). See Illinois v. McArthur, 531 U.S. 326, 121 S.Ct. 946, 148 L. Ed. 2d 838 (2001).

Thus, even assuming that Defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the motel room, the discovery of the evidence in question was made in open view, the room itself lawfully secured pursuant to probable cause pending the issuance of a search warrant, and the evidence then lawfully seized pursuant to that warrant.

While the defendant argues for the first time on appeal that "prior to obtaining a search warrant, officers seized items from [his] motel room," BOA, p. 20-21, there is no testimony in the record to support this

contention. Defendant simply states that Detective Canion testified that he found the torn checks "already bagged in a police evidence bag and set on a chair," BOA, p. 21, and concludes from this that "[i]t is clear that at least one officer entered the room prior to the search warrant and began seizing items." BOA, p. 21.

The problem with Defendant's argument is that this is not at all clear. Detective Hayes did testify that while serving the search warrant, he found checks inside a police evidence bag on a chair next to the garbage can. RP 217. However, there were at least three detectives, Hayes, Pendrak, and Canion, involved in the service of that warrant, RP 187, and it is not clear whether Canion or Pendrak bagged these checks during the warrant service, prior to Hayes coming upon them. This is especially true given that Pendrak did not testify at trial.

While the defendant notes that "[t]he State produced no witness who could testify how the items came to be bagged before the warrant was executed," BOA, 21, the State was not required to do so. Because the defendant made no motion to suppress in the trial court, the State was not required to justify its search and seizures; it was simply required to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt.

More than indicating possible nefarious police activity, the defendant's argument illustrates that by failing to raise the issue below, he

failed to preserve it here. Because the State was not made aware that this was an issue, it did not have the opportunity, before or during trial, to clarify how the ripped checks came to be bagged.

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